
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
Tuesday, 22 November 2016 at 7.30 pm 

Council Chamber - Civic Centre 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any matters on 

the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 2 - 4) 
 
 To agree the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2016. 

 
4. Matters Arising   
 
5. Written Questions and Petitions   
 
6. Committee Work Plan  (Page 5) 
 
7. Fees and Charges for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing  

(Pages 6 - 7) 
 
8. Standard Driver Licensing Conditions Regarding Offences etc  (Pages 8 - 

11) 
 
9. Licensed Vehicle Standards  (Pages 12 - 29) 
 
10. Driver Licensing: Driving Standards Testing Arrangements  (Pages 30 - 

33) 
 
11. References from Other Committees   
 
 Any references arising from meetings held after the publication of this 

agenda will be circulated separately. 
 

12. Matters of Urgent Business   
 
 Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 

considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to 
be specified in the minutes. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 

 
13 September 2016 7.30  - 7.50 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop (Chairman) 
Councillor Ian Beckett 
Councillor Nick Churchill 
Councillor Karen Clempner 
Councillor Lanie Shears 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
 

 
Officers 
Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager 
Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor 
Janet Jackson, Corporate Governance Support 

 
APOLOGIES  
Councillor John Strachan 
Councillor Bill Pryor 
 
 
 
9. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
None. 
 

10. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on the 12 July 
2016 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
11. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

12. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS  
 
None. 
 

13. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  
 
A paper copy of the proposed Committee Work Plan for the current 
municipal year was circulated at the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

2

Agenda Item 3



RESOLVED that: 
 
(a)  the Work Plan is noted; 
 
(b) the Quarterly Reporting of NHS Statistical Data be removed 

from the Work Plan at the present time and can return at a 
later date if requested;  

 
(c) the Review of the Standard Conditions for Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire Driver Licensing is removed from the Work 
Plan to be reintroduced at a later date;  

 
(d) a report on a Specific Condition that appeared to require 

clarification, under the heading “offences” among the 
Standard Conditions applicable to a Private Hire Driver 
licence, requiring drivers to report within 72 hours to the 
Licensing Team cautions, convictions or prosecutions 
pending be added to the Work Plan for the Committee 
Meeting of 22 November 2016.  

 
14. CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE) TRAINING: DELEGATE 

FEEDBACK  
 
The Committee received a report on CSE Training – Delegate Feedback.  
 
Harlow Council began delivery of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) awareness 
training to licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers on 14 June 2016 
followed by further sessions on 1 and 2 August 2016.  The training package was 
designed by ‘Safe and Sound’ with assistance from Essex Safeguarding Children 
Board and Council staff.  It currently received financial support from the Essex 
Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 
A total of 130 drivers had now attended the training.  Further training would be 
made available for drivers on 6 October, early November and mid-January.  It 
would also be offered to all Councillors and Legal Officers through the normal 
channels. 
 

The Committee noted and welcomed the generally positive responses 
from delegates to the training, particularly the high proportion of delegates 
who indicated that it had increased their awareness for the CSE issues. 
 

RESOLVED the Committee noted the feedback from delegates who 
attended the recent ‘child sexual exploitation’ training on 14 June 
and 1 and 2 August 2016. 

 
15. PREPARING A STATEMENT OF GAMBLING ACT POLICY FOR 

CONSULTATION: LOCAL AREA PROFILING  
 
The Committee received a report on Preparing a Statement of Gambling Act 
Policy for Consultation: Local Area Profiling.  

3



Officers explained that the Gambling Act 2005 requires that local licensing 
authorities publish a Statement of Licensing Policy.  The Statement must take 
account of guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. 
 
The recently published 5th Edition of Guidance to Licensing Authorities had 
introduced the concept of ‘local area profiles’.  A local area profile should enable 
the Council to map out areas of additional risk and the location of any specifically 
vulnerable groups.   
 

RESOLVED that the arrangements being made to identify any area-

based vulnerability to gambling harm, in preparation for consultation on 
revised Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Policy, is approved. 

 
16. FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990 SERVICE PLAN 2016/17  

 
The Committee received a report on the Food Safety Act 1990 Service 
Plan 2016/2017. 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to enforce the Food Safety Act and in 
doing so to have regard to the Framework Agreement on Local Authority 
Food Law Enforcement which constitutes statutory guidance issued by the 
Food Standards Agency (FSA).  The Service Plan is produced in 
compliance with the Framework Agreement and represents a Team Plan 
within the Council’s own Performance Management Framework.  
 

RESOLVED that the Food Service Plan presented at Appendix 1 of 
the report, be noted and approved. 

 
17. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

18. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE 

4



LICENSING COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2016/17       
 

   

24 January 2107  
o Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Fees 

and Charges proposals: consideration of 
representations (subject to any 
representation) 

Michael Pitt 
 
 
 
 

o Statement of Gambling Act Policy – 
Outcome of Consultation 

Michael Pitt 
 
 

21 March 2017  
o   

 
Unallocated Items  

o  Update the Street Trading Licensing Policy  
         to Take Account of Revised Legislation  
         (Awaiting changes to the legislation) 
         

Michael Pitt 
 
 

Standing Items  
o Licensing Sub-Committee Decisions 

(Annual report to first meeting in the municipal year 
6,9/7/13) 

Michael Pitt 
 
 

 

5

Agenda Item 6



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 NOVEMBER 2016 
 

TITLE: FEES AND CHARGES FOR HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING. 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER  
(01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER 
(LICENSING)  
(01279) 446164 

 
 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A No change in fees and charges applying to Private Hire Licensing be 

recommended for the financial year 2016/17. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1   The Council is permitted to make such charges for vehicle and operator licensing as it 

may determine, although it should have regard to its costs in operating the statutory 
regime and taken over time should not use fees generate a surplus.  Council fees and 
charges are generally speaking approved as part of the budget setting round.  
 

2   The statutory provisions permitting charging, state that where the Council proposes to 
charge a fee in excess of £25 it should publish notice of its intention to do so and 
must consider any objections received.  In order allow the Licensing Committee to 
consider any proposals and any objections, and make recommendations to Full 
Council for inclusion in the fees and charges round, a report on these fees and 
charges is typically included in the Committee Work Plan in the autumn.  

 
ISSUES 

3.  To implement the statutory change introducing three year licences by default, 
and to reflect Council costs better, the Licensing Committee recommended 
(and Full Council approved) a significant change in fees and charges 
structure in September 2015.  Several fees were increased significantly.  It is 
unlikely that the effect of those changes on the team budget will be reliably 
known until the impact of the opportunity to take three-year licenses has been 
shown.  Overall cost inflation has been modest and Harlow Council licensing 
fees are not low in relation to fees typically charged in Essex.    

6

Agenda Item 7



 
PROPOSALS 

4.  Given the issues noted at 3 above it is proposed to keep fees and charges at 
the same level in 2016/17 as in 2017/18.  
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
As set out in the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The proposals will be incorporated into the 2016/17 budget. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific.   
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
As contained in the report. 
Author: Mark Alexander Legal Executive for Brian Keane, Head of 
Governance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 NOVEMBER 2016 
 

TITLE: STANDARD DRIVER LICENSING 
CONDITIONS REGARDING OFFENCES ETC. 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER  
(01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER  
(LICENSING)  
(01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A the Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council approval of the revised 

standard licence condition set out at Appendix 2 to the report, clarifying the 
Private Hire driver’s obligation to report to the Council details of accidents, 
criminal investigations and convictions. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1   Licensed drivers hold a position of trust and responsibility in society. It is important, 

therefore, that the driver is of good character.  The Council has a legal duty not to 
issue a licence unless the applicant is a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold it.  The Council 
may revoke, suspend or take other action in relation to an existing licence where it 
has information to satisfy it that on the balance of probabilities such a course of action 
is justified.  
 

2   In accord with accepted licensing practice the Council requires that an applicant 
provides a satisfactory Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificate before being 
licensed for the first time, and periodically thereafter.  This will disclose recorded 
offences which the Council will take into account.  However, there will inevitably be a 
delay between an offence being committed and the information concerning that 
offence appearing on a DBS certificate presented to the Council.  The Council 
therefore requires licensed drivers to volunteer information about offences to allow 
assessment of whether the licensed driver continues to be a fit and proper person. 
The standard condition that current applies to Private Hire Drivers’ licences is set out 
at Appendix 1.  

 
ISSUES 

3.  The Council’s current conditions are not clear about what the Council expects 

8

Agenda Item 8



of drivers.  In some protracted cases, there may be an extended length of 
time between the start of an investigation and the licensee being charged.  To 
take an informed view as to whether the person continues to be a ‘fit and 
proper’ person and whether any action is required in the interest of public 
safety at the earliest reasonable opportunity, the Council should require 
drivers to report the facts as soon any investigation by a law enforcement 
agency reaches an appropriate definitive stage. 
 

PROPOSALS 

4.  The Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council the adoption of the 
revised standard driver licence condition set out at Appendix 2. 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
As set out in the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific.   
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The current condition is ambiguous and compliance with this condition is subject 
to interpretation.  The amended condition proposed will provide clarity to the 
Council and licensed drivers as to what should be reported to the Council and in 
what time frame. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane, Head of 
Governance 
 
 

9



APPENDIX 1 

Existing Standard Private Hire Driver Licence Condition 

Offences  

Details of all convictions or prosecutions pending (including cautions and motoring offences) 
must be notified to the Licensing Team within 72 hours. 

Offences  
Details of all convictions or prosecutions pending (including cautions and motoring offences) 
must be notified to the Licensing Team within 72 hours. 
  
Details of any convictions or prosecutions (including cautions and motoring offences) 
occurring during the application process must be notified to the Licensing Team within 72 
hours.  
 
Clarification on when the 72-hour deadline starts for reporting motor vehicle 
accidents and other offences 
 
Motor Vehicle Accidents 
  
The 72-hour deadline will start from the time of the accident.  
 
Leeway will be given if the driver is injured in the accident.  
 
Other Offences  
 
Cautions and motoring offences resulting in a fixed penalty notice  
 

The 72 hours will commence from the time that the caution has been accepted or the fixed 
penalty notice issued. 

Convictions or Prosecutions  
 

The 72 hours will commence from the time that a prosecution has resulted in a conviction 
against a private hire driver or private hire operator. This will also include a conviction in 
respect of a motoring offence. 

Prosecution Pending  
 
The 72 hours will commence from the time that the summons has been issued.  
NB  
Although it is preferable to have details regarding prosecutions etc. as early as possible, i.e. 
at the summons stage, it is recognised that there might be a genuine reason why it cannot 
be undertaken, and this is why notification of a conviction is also included.  
 

72 hours is used so that if something happens on a Friday afternoon and the Licensing 
Team cannot be contacted, notification can be made on the following Monday. 

10



APPENDIX 2 

 

 

Proposed Revised Standard Private Hire Driver Licence Condition 

 

Convictions Cautions Summonses Arrests Fixed Penalty Notices Etc.  

Any driver holding a PHDL issued by Harlow Council must notify the Council in writing, within 72 
hours of: 

 

a) Any conviction (motoring or criminal) 
b) Any caution, warning or reprimand (issued by the Police or any other agency) 
c) Their arrest for any offence (whether or not charged) 
d) Issue of any magistrates court summons against them 
e) Any fixed penalty notice for any matter. 

 

Failure to notify the Council may result in enforcement action being taken against the licensed 
driver. 

 

 

11



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 NOVEMBER 2016 
 

TITLE: LICENSED VEHICLE STANDARDS 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER  
(01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER 
(LICENSING)  
(01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee approves consultation of stakeholders on the licensing, as 

set out in Appendix 1 to the report, of single-passenger vehicles for Private Hire use. 
 

B The Licensing Committee approves consultation of stakeholders on ceasing to require 
a new Hackney Carriage vehicle when a new vehicle licence is issued.      
 

C The Licensing Committee approves consultation of stakeholders on phasing in a 
requirement for all licensed vehicles to be Euro 4 compliant on the basis set out in 
Appendix 1. 
 

D The Licensing Committee approves consultation of stakeholders on introduction of 
replacement vehicle compliance standards as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, 
subject to any amendments required to account for the Committee’s views.  
 

E The Licensing Committee, subject to A-D above, receives a report at a future meeting 
setting out responses to proposed consultation and making recommendations that 
appear appropriate for changes in licensing policy. 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  Harlow Council licenses private hire vehicles and Hackney Carriages.  The law 

provides for conditions on vehicle licenses.  The Council has adopted standard 
conditions forming a vehicle compliance standard, designed to ensure that licenced 
vehicles are safe, suitable, comfortable, presentable and maintained to an acceptable 
standard. 
 

2.  The compliance standard was last considered by the Licensing Committee during 
2015.  Links to relevant conditions and Committee reports are given under 

12

Agenda Item 9



Background Papers below.  From time to time issues arise that might be addressed 
by changes in the compliance standards.  This report sets out several such issues 
and proposes subject to the Committee’s views, consultation on draft replacement 
standards that might address them. 
 

 

ISSUES 

3.  SINGLE-PASSENGER PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES  
 
Current compliance standards prohibit the licensing of single passenger vehicles for 
Private Hire use.  Neighbouring authorities have licensed small 2 seater vehicles to 
carry 1 passenger.  Such Private Hire vehicles licensed by neighbouring authorities 
(specifically Smart Fortwo cars) may pick up and set down customers in Harlow 
provided that the booking has been made through an Operator licensed by the same 
authority as the vehicle and driver.  Reasons that might be advanced for allowing their 
use include economy in operation, potentially lower prices to the travelling public, 
lower vehicle emissions per mile, and more efficient use of road space.  Reasons that 
might be advanced for continuing to prevent their use include safety concerns, 
suitability with regard to lack of space, and versatility with regard to not being capable 
of fulfilling certain bookings.  
 

4.  REQUIREMENT FOR NEW HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE ON ISSUE OF A NEW 
LICENCE  
 
The Council currently requires “London Black Cab” type vehicles for Hackney 
Carriage use, and for many years has required applicants for a new Hackney 
Carriage licence to provide a brand new vehicle.  It appears that the objective of this 
requirement was gradual introduction to the fleet in use of advances in such areas as 
comfort convenience and environmental performance of more modern vehicle 
designs.  There was no requirement made regarding then-existing licences, which 
may be freely transferred to any otherwise-suitable replacement vehicle.  The age of 
vehicles with these licences is not affected by this condition.  There are 63 licensed 
Hackney Carriages now in use, of which 51 licences are unaffected by this condition. 
This suggests that the requirement has not been very effective in modernising the 
fleet. 
 

5.  A brand new Hackney Carriage vehicle is very expensive in comparison to a typical 
motor car or a suitable relatively modern second-hand “London Black Cab” style 
vehicle. 
  

6.  Department of Transport Best Practice Guidance to licensing authorities to which the 
Council should have regard, suggests that specifying the age of vehicles to achieve 
particular aims is less satisfactory than dealing with specific issues using specific 
conditions. 
 
 

13



7.  ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE OF LICENSED VEHICLES 
 
Whilst there are currently no identified breaches of health-based national air quality 
standards in Harlow, the health effects from emissions, particularly from older diesel-
engined vehicles, are well documented and understood.  A gradual progression to 
better environmental standards would contribute to safeguarding air quality in Harlow 
and so help to protect public health. 
  

8.  Tighter emission standards for vehicle type approval have been introduced in the EU 
since 1993.  Euro 3 vehicle standards were introduced in 2000.  Euro 4 standards 
were introduced in 2005.  A Euro 3 complaint vehicle might be up to 16 years old, 
while a Euro 4 compliant vehicle might be up to 11 years old.  
   

9.  The Council currently requires vehicles to achieve the MoT test standard for Euro 3 
vehicles.  If the Council phased in a requirement for Euro 4 compliant vehicles to be 
used, emission standards would be improved meaningfully without imposing 
excessive vehicle replacement costs, as suitable second-hand vehicles across a wide 
range of ages and so costs will be available.  
 

10   PROPSED REDRAFTED COMPLIANCE CONDITIONS DOCUMENT 
 
A revised draft of the Council’s vehicle compliance standard is attached at  
Appendix 1.  A number of new or significantly revised conditions appear throughout 
the document.  In addition to the issues discussed above, significant differences from 
existing standards include: 
 

• Vehicle inspection arrangements. 
• Vehicle inspection intervals. 
• Arrangements for chauffeured vehicles. 
• Taximeter testing arrangements. 
• Provision for licensing of Electric Vehicles. 
• A prohibition on licensing ‘written off’ vehicles. 
• Tighter standards covering dents, scratches and bodywork condition. 
• Phasing in of objective standards for the degree of tinting of ‘factory fitted’ 

tinted windows that will be accepted. 
• Deletion of the existing requirement for private hire vehicles to show a tyre-

tread depth of no less than 2mm. 
 

PROPOSALS 

11.  It is proposed that the Council consult stakeholders on licensing of single-passenger 
vehicles on the basis set out in Appendix 1  
 

12.  It is proposed that the Council consult stakeholders on ceasing to require a new 
Hackney Carriage vehicle when a new vehicle licence is issued    
 

14



13.  It is proposed that the Council consult stakeholders on phasing in a requirement for 
all licensed vehicles to be Euro 4 compliant on the basis set out in Appendix 1  
 

14.  It is proposed the draft replacement compliance standard attached at Appendix 1, 
subject to amendment to reflect the Committee’s views on the issues highlighted in 
the report, form the basis of consultation with stakeholders proposed above. 
   

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
As set out in the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
 None specific.  
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The Council must ensure the proposals follow the correct consultation process in 
order to minimise any legal challenge. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane, Head of 
Governance 
 
 
Background Papers:  
 
Department of Transport Taxi and Private Hire Licensing: Best Practice Guide 
March 2010 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-
vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance  
 
Report to Licensing Committee 20 January 2015: COMPLIANCE STANDARD 
FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES TEST STATION 
TENDER 
 
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/documents/g519/Public%20reports%20pack%20
20th-Jan-2015%2019.30%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10  
 

15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/documents/g519/Public%20reports%20pack%2020th-Jan-2015%2019.30%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/documents/g519/Public%20reports%20pack%2020th-Jan-2015%2019.30%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10


Report to Licensing Committee 24 March 2015 EMISSION CONDITION FOR 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
 
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/documents/g520/Public%20reports%20pack%20
24th-Mar-2015%2019.30%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10   

16

http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/documents/g520/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Mar-2015%2019.30%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/documents/g520/Public%20reports%20pack%2024th-Mar-2015%2019.30%20Licensing%20Committee.pdf?T=10


APPENDIX 1 

3 
 

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENSING AND TESTING 
 

Private Hire Vehicles are licensed under Section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.  The Act allows a Local Authority to impose conditions that it considers 
‘reasonably necessary’ in respect of private hire vehicles. 

Standard Conditions applicable to a Private Hire Vehicle licence 
 

1. Licensing Period. A Private Hire Vehicle shall be licensed for a period of not more 
than 1 calendar year.   
 

2. Use of the Vehicle. A private hire vehicle once licensed is always a private hire 
vehicle and may only be driven by a private hire driver who holds a licence under 
Section 51 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 

3. Persons permitted to drive a Licensed Vehicle. A vehicle licensed by Harlow 
Council may only be driven by a person licensed by Harlow Council. 

4. Insurance. A valid insurance policy in respect of the vehicle covering the carriage of 
passengers for hire and reward shall be in force throughout the period of the licence. 
 

5. Cleanliness.  The licensed vehicle shall be maintained in a clean, comfortable, 
presentable and roadworthy condition. 
 

6. Vehicle Modification. No material alteration or change in the specification, design or 
appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the Licensing Team. 
 

7. Signs. Private Hire Vehicles shall not display signs using the words TAXI, CAB, or 
‘FOR HIRE’ or any form of wording which may indicate that the vehicle is presently 
available for hire. 

8. Vehicle Inspection Arrangements.  The licensed vehicle shall be presented for 
MOT and compliance test to the garage nominated by the Council. Proprietors are 
required to book their MOT/compliance tests with the nominated garage at intervals 
specified by Council vehicle licence conditions. 
 

9. Inspection intervals. Licensed vehicles shall be presented for MOT annually and 
immediately prior to first being licensed.  Thereafter, a licensed vehicle shall be 
presented for Compliance testing at the following intervals; 
a) Immediately prior to the issue of first licence (on the date of the MOT) 
b) Annually for all vehicles with <100,000 recorded miles (on the date of MOT) 
c) Every 6 months for all vehicles with >100,000 recorded miles 
e) At the request of the Council for enforcement purposes.   
 

17



Proprietors are required to book their MOT and Compliance tests with the nominated 
garage at the specified intervals. 
 

10. Trailers. A private hire vehicle may tow a trailer provided that the trailer is fully 
compliant with all road traffic regulations.  The vehicle proprietor shall notify the 
Council that he/she intends to use a trailer prior to first use.  A trailer used for private 
hire shall be presented for inspection to the Council’s nominated garage prior to 
being used for the first time and annually thereafter. 
 

11. Display of Plate.  A ‘private hire plate’ issued by the Council shall be fixed to the 
outside rear of the vehicle in a prominent position which does not obscure lights or 
number plate.  The plate shall be displayed at all times.  No other plate from any 
other authority shall be displayed. 
 

12. Vehicle Badge.  A vehicle badge issued by the Council shall be displayed on the 
windscreen at all times in a position where it can be clearly seen by passengers.  No 
other badge from another authority shall be displayed. 
 

13. Door Panels.  A private hire vehicle shall display offside and nearside front door 
vehicle identification panels. The panels shall be issued by the Council and be 
permanently fitted to the private hire vehicle for the entire period that the vehicle 
remains licensed.  In the event of panels being lost, damaged or defaced, the vehicle 
proprietor or driver shall, as soon as practicable, notify the licensing team and obtain 
replacement panels.   
 

14. Chauffeur Vehicles.  Chauffeur vehicles are required to be licensed as private hire 
vehicles and be operated through a Licensed Operator in accordance with the 76 
Act.  However, regulation 75 (3) of the 76 Act allows the licensing authority to alter 
requirements for the display of plates.  Harlow Council will not require that the vehicle 
display a rear plate under clause 11 above or door panels under clause 13 where the 
vehicle meets the  following requirements; 

• The vehicle is an executive or prestigious vehicle, 
• The vehicle is only operated in a manner which could reasonably be 

construed as chauffeuring where persons hire the vehicle and driver and, a 
higher standard of service is provided, 

• The vehicle is not operated at any time for short trips, school runs, airport 
work and similar journeys which may be considered normal ‘private hire 
work’. 

The Council shall issue a certificate of exemption for vehicles that are not required to 
display plates which must be carried in the vehicle. 
 

15. Emissions.  All licensed vehicles shall be Euro 4 compliant or higher.  Vehicles 
continuously licensed on 22nd November 2016 or before which are not certified by the 
manufacturer as Euro 4 compliant shall not be relicensed after 22nd November 2018.       

16. Fire Extinguisher.  A fire extinguisher manufactured to BSEN 3 1996 shall be 
readily available for use and fixed in position using a bracket and not carried loose in 
the vehicle or boot. 

 
17. Meters.  A private hire vehicle shall not be required to use a private hire meter but 

where fitted the meter must be compliant with The Measuring Instruments 
(Taximeter) Regulations 2006 and be sealed by the Council or persons working on 

18



behalf of the Council.  For the purposes of this condition, a PDA shall not be 
considered to be a meter. 
 

18. Reporting Damage and Accidents.   The proprietor of a PHV shall report to the 
Council as soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event, within 72 hours after the 
occurrence of the accident, details of any accident which the vehicle is involved 
irrespective of the extent to which the vehicle is physically damaged.  In 
circumstances where the vehicle was not driven by a licensed driver, the requirement 
shall extend to the vehicle proprietor to report the accident to the Council. 
 
Any damage to a PHV which materially affects the safety, performance or 
appearance of the vehicle shall not be used until such damage is repaired to the 
satisfaction of the Council. 

 
19. LPG.  Private Hire Vehicles converted to run on LPG by a third party vehicle 

converter shall meet the legislative requirements set out in the Road Vehicle 
(Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 (as amended). [Regulations 40 & 94 and 
schedules 4 & 5 lay down safety requirements for the LPG system].   There is a 
voluntary code of practice published by UKLPG regarding LPG conversion 
standards.  The Council reserves the right to require that the vehicle be approved 
under the UKLPG accreditation scheme.  Documentary evidence shall be provided to 
the Licensing Team to confirm that the conversion meets with legislative 
requirements. Private hire vehicles converted to run on LPG shall display a roundel 
sticker at the front and rear of the vehicle stating that the vehicle has been fitted with 
an LPG tank.   The vehicle proprietor shall notify the Licensing Team, DVLA and their 
insurance company that the vehicle has been converted to run on LPG  
 

20. BHP. Petrol or diesel powered private hire vehicles shall be a minimum of 90bhp.  
 

21. Hybrid and Electrically Propelled Vehicles.  Harlow Council shall licence hybrid or 
electrically propelled vehicles where they meet these conditions. 
 

22. Insurance Write offs.  Any vehicle that had previously been ‘written off’ as a 
category C insurance claim shall not be licenced by the Council for the first time on or 
after 1st March 2017.   Any vehicle that had been previously written off as a category 
C and which was currently licensed by the Council on 1st December 2016 shall not be 
re-licensed by the Council after 1st January 2018.  
 

23. Maintenance Standards. The licensed vehicle shall meet the minimum standards 
set out in the MOT and Compliance standards below.  A licensed vehicle which fails 
the MOT standard shall not be used as a Private Hire Vehicle and the proprietor 
shall as soon as practicable inform the Council’s licensing team of any such failure.  
A licensed vehicle shall not be used as a private hire vehicle where it fails a 
compliance test other than at the discretion of the Environment and Licensing 
Manager.   Any such failure shall as soon as practicable be notified to the Licensing 
Team. 

19



The Licensed Vehicle shall meet the following standards 
 
MOT and Compliance standards 
 
ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED 
 
INTERIOR 
STEERING CONTROLS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
FOOT BRAKE PEDAL    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
CLUTCH PEDAL     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HAND BRAKE LEVER    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WIPERS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WASHERS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HORN       MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SPEEDOMETER     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
CONDITION OF WINDSCREEN   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
PANEL LIGHT AND GAUGES   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
INDICATORS & WARNING LAMP   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
DRIVERS SEAT     MOT REGUALTIONS (C & U) 
DRIVING MIRRORS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SEAT BELTS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
FIRE EXTINGUISHER    SEE NOTES BELOW 
DRIVER AND PASSENGER FOOTWELLS  SEE NOTES BELOW 
 
EXTERIOR 
DOOR GLASS, LOCKS & HINGES   INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-
WORKING 
CHECK STRAPS AND TRIMS   INTACT-NO EXCESSIVE WEAR-
WORKING 
LEG ROOM, HEAD HEIGHT AND       SEE NOTES BELOW 
SEATING DIMENSIONS    SEE NOTES BELOW 
HEATING      INTACT-WORKING 
PASSENGER LIGHTING    INTACT-WORKING 
FRONT LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HEAD LAMPS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HEAD LAMP ALIGNMENT    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
STOP LAMPS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
REAR LAMPS        MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
REVERSING/FOG LAMPS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
REAR REFLECTORS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
NUMBER PLATE LAMPS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
INDICATORS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SPARE WHEEL & TYRE    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS   SEE NOTES BELOW 
EXTERIOR MIRRORS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
OPERATION OF SHOCK ABSORBERS  MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)  
CONDITION OF NUMBER PLATES   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
 
UNDER THE BONNET 
BATTERY SECURITY    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WIRING SECURITY     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
BRAKE PIPES AND HOSES    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
OIL AND FUEL LEAKS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U 
EMISSION OF SMOKE    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U 

20



BONNET OPERATION    SEE NOTES BELOW 
EXHAUST MANIFOLD    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
 
UNDER THE VEHICLE 
STEERING MECHANISM    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
POWER STEERING     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION SHAFTS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
STUB AXLE ASSEMBLIES    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WHEEL BEARING     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SUSPENSION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SHOCK ABSORBERS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE CONDITION   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE CONDITION    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
EXHAUST SYSTEM     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION MOUNTINGS   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
ENGINE MOUNTINGS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
 
UNDER BODY 
CHASSIS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WHEELS AND TYRES    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TYRE TREAD      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TYRE TYPE      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TYRE CONDITION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
ROAD WHEELS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS   SEE NOTES BELOW 
 
BRAKES TEST  
SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
  
Fire extinguishers: shall be fixed with a bracket in the car or boot and be readily available 
for use. 
 
Driver and passenger foot-wells: Driver and passenger foot-wells shall be kept free of 
obstructions. 
 
Leg room, seat dimensions and internal arrangements: Private hire vehicles shall meet 
the following minimum standards: 

 
• Vehicles with 4 seats or more shall have a minimum of 4 passenger doors. 

 
• Larger vehicles may be licensed for not more than 8 passengers. 

 
• The aggregate internal width of seats shall not be less than 1,290mm when 

measured across the seats at shoulder height. The dimensions of all rear seats shall 
not be less than 430mm.   
 

• Provide not less than 152mm leg-room between the front seat and cushion of the 
rear seat measured horizontally. 
 

• The licensing team shall exercise reasonable discretion on the suitability of vehicles 
to be licensed as private hire vehicles. 

21



 
• Seats shall be secure and backrests shall be capable of being secured in the upright 

position. 
  
Bonnet. The bonnet must open and close properly and be fitted with a working safety catch 
in accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications. 
 
Vehicle Cleanliness The vehicle shall be submitted for inspection in a clean condition to 
enable the vehicle inspector to carry out a full and proper inspection and examine all 
necessary components.  Reasonable steps should be taken to keep the licensed vehicle 
clean throughout the licensed period.   
 
Floor coverings Floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, or serious 
staining. 
 
Interior (General)  All interior trim, including headlining, door panels and speakers shall be 
clean, complete, properly fitted and free from serious cuts, tears or major soiling. Door 
handles and windows shall be operational. All fittings shall be secured in a manner that 
prevents sharp edges or other hazards protruding into the passenger carrying areas. 
 
Rust The vehicle shall be free from significant areas of visible rusting.  Although minor 
blemishes will not normally constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be 
followed.  Any vehicle with three or more visible rust patches larger than 5sq cms each shall 
be failed.  The vehicle examiner shall be allowed reasonable discretion when assessing rust.  

 
Dents: Any vehicle with minor dents on three or more panels where such dents detract from 
the appearance of the vehicle shall be failed.  The vehicle examiner shall be allowed 
reasonable discretion when assessing dents.  
 
Scratches: Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more 
panels of 50mm in length or where the cumulative appearance of scratches detracts from 
the appearance of the vehicle shall be failed. The vehicle examiner shall be allowed 
reasonable discretion when assessing vehicle condition. 
 
Paintwork: Any vehicle with panels painted in non-matching colours, or in primer, shall be 
failed. 
 
Accident damage: Vehicles with significant unrepaired bodywork damage shall be failed. 
 
TRAILERS. Trailers shall, 

1. Be maintained in roadworthy condition. 
2. Be fitted with lights in accordance with The Road Vehicles Lighting Regulations 1989. 
3. Display a number plate of the towing vehicle. 
4. Not obscure the ‘Local Authority Plate’. 

 
Access Equipment and fittings for passengers with disabilities (where fitted): Access 
ramps and hoists shall properly installed and maintained in working order. Wheelchair 
clamps and harnesses shall be correctly fitted, be available for use and, maintained in good 
working order. Fittings and fitments shall be capable of being used by persons using a 
wheelchair. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS 
A Private Hire Vehicle must be clearly distinguishable from Hackney Carriages. 
 

22



Door panels size and design.  Door identification panels shall be permanently fixed and 
displayed on the front passenger and driver doors.  The panels may not be fixed using 
magnets or other non-permanent means. Panels shall measure 400mm x 127mm and 
clearly display the vehicle private hire plate number.  The panels will be supplied by Harlow 
Council. 
 
Tinted windows.  All rear nearside, offside, tailgate and boot windows fitted to Licensed 
Vehicles first licensed by Harlow Council after 1st December 2016 shall have a minimum 
70% light transmittance.  (This value is the same legal minimum value for front nearside and 
offside windows.)  Private Hire Vehicles continuously licensed by Harlow Council prior to 30th 
November 2016 and fitted with factory made tinted windows shall not be re-licensed after 
30th November 2018.  Licensed vehicles fitted with aftermarket tinted windows <70% 
transmittance shall not be licensed. 
  

  

23



5 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENSING AND TESTING 
  
Standard conditions applicable to Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences. 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles (Proprietors) are licensed under Section 37 of the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847.  
 
Section 47 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows a Local 
Authority to impose conditions that it ‘considers reasonably necessary’ in respect of Hackney 
Carriage Vehicles. 
 
Mandatory Orders.  Harlow Council operates a system referred to as ‘Mandatory Orders’. 
This means that Hackney Carriage vehicle licenses are only issued to vehicles, which meet 
the London Public Carriage Office specification i.e. ‘London-style cabs’. 
 

1. Use of Vehicle. A Hackney Carriage Vehicle once licensed is always a Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle and as such can only be driven by a Hackney Carriage Driver who 
holds a licence under Section 46 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 
 

2. Persons permitted to drive a licensed vehicle. A Hackney Carriage licensed by 
Harlow Council may only be driven by a person licensed by Harlow Council to drive a 
Hackney Carriage. 
 

3. Additional Conditions.  Where necessary, the Environment and Licensing Manager 
shall apply specific conditions to the grant or renewal of the vehicle licence. 
 

4. Inspection of the Vehicle All MOT and Compliance tests shall be carried out by the 
Council’s nominated garage.  The Council shall not license a Hackney Carriage 
unless the vehicle has successfully passed an MOT and Compliance test. 
 

5. Inspection intervals. Licensed vehicles shall be presented for MOT annually and 
immediately prior to first being licensed.  Thereafter, a licensed vehicle shall be 
presented for Compliance testing at the following intervals; 

• Immediately prior to the issue of first licence (on the date of the MOT) 
• Annually for vehicles up to 12 years of age at first registration, 
• Twice a year for vehicles older than 12 years of age 
• At the request of the Council for enforcement purposes.   
• Proprietors are required to book their MOT and Compliance tests with the 

nominated garage at the specified intervals. 
 

6. Written off Vehicles Any vehicle that had previously been ‘written off’ as a category 
C insurance claim shall not be licenced by the Council for the first time on or after 1st 
March 2017.   Any vehicle that had been previously written off as a category C and 
which was currently licensed by the Council on 1st December 2016 shall not be re-
licensed by the Council after 1st January 2018.   
 

7. Trailers.  Prior to being used for the first time a trailer shall be inspected by the 
Council’s nominated garage.  Trailers used by Hackney Carriage vehicles will be 
subject to testing at the same time as the vehicle. 

24



 
8. Plates and Badges. The Hackney Carriage plate shall be permanently fixed to the 

outside rear of the vehicle and shall be displayed at all times.  The vehicle badge 
shall be displayed on the partition window where it may clearly be seen by 
passengers.  
 

9. Fitness of the Vehicle. The vehicle shall be maintained in a clean, comfortable, 
presentable and roadworthy condition at all times. 
 

10. Signs and advertising. Signs on vehicles shall be clear, not misleading and must 
not be offensive. Signs must not impede the safe operation of the vehicle. 
 

11. Accidents Causing Damage to the Vehicle.  The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage 
shall report to the Council as soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event, within 
72 hours after the occurrence of an accident, details of any accident which the 
vehicle is involved irrespective of the extent to which the vehicle is physically 
damaged.  In circumstances where the vehicle was not driven by a licensed driver, 
the requirement shall extend to the vehicle proprietor to report the accident to the 
Council. 
 

12. Insurance. A valid insurance policy in respect of the vehicle covering the carriage of 
passengers for hire and reward shall be in force throughout the period of the licence. 
 

13. Fire Extinguisher A fire extinguisher manufactured to BSEN3 1996 shall be readily 
available for use. It shall be fixed in position using a bracket and not carried loose in 
the vehicle or boot. 
 

14. Plying for Hire/Hackney Carriage Ranks. Hackney carriage vehicles may ply for 
hire on an approved Hackney Carriage rank and may be hailed while travelling along 
any public highway within the District of Harlow. A Hackney Carriage vehicle may be 
dispatched to undertake a pre booked journey. 
 

15. Hackney Carriage Meters. Hackney carriages shall be fitted with a meter compliant 
with The Measuring Instruments (Taximeters) Regulations 2006 and shall be 
periodically tested and sealed by the Council or by persons working on behalf of the 
Council. 
 

16. Alteration of the Vehicle. No material alteration or change in the specification, 
design, condition or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of 
the Council at any time the licence is in force. 
 

17. Wheelchair Accessibility All Hackney Carriage Vehicles shall be wheelchair 
accessible and fitted with access ramps and fastening equipment. Hackney carriage 
vehicles are required to carry wheelchair passengers unless the driver has a medical 
exemption certificate issued by the Council on medical advice. 
 

18. Vehicle Emissions.  All licensed vehicles shall be Euro 4 compliant or higher.  
Vehicles continuously licensed on 22nd November 2016 or before which are not 
certified by the manufacturer as Euro 4 compliant shall not be relicensed after 22nd 
November 2018. 
 

19. Maintenance Standards. The licensed vehicle shall meet the minimum standards 
set out in the MOT and Compliance standards below.  A licensed vehicle which fails 
the MOT standard shall not be used as a Hackney Carriage and the proprietor shall 
as soon as practicable inform the Council’s licensing team of any such failure.  A 

25



licensed vehicle shall not be used as a Hackney Carriage where it fails a compliance 
test other than at the discretion of the Environment and Licensing Manager.   Any 
such failure shall as soon as practicable be notified to the Licensing Team. 
 

 
 HACKNEY CARRIAGE LICENSING AND TESTING 

 

MOT and Compliance Standard 

ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED 
 
CAB ITEMS 
STEERING CONTROLS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
FOOT BRAKE PEDAL    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
CLUTCH PEDAL     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HAND BRAKE LEVER    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WIPERS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WINDSCREEN WASHERS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HORN       MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SPEEDOMETER     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
CONDITION OF WINDSCREEN   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
PANEL LIGHT AND GAUGES   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
INTERIOR LIGHTS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
INDICATORS & WARNING LAMP   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
DRIVERS SEAT     MOT REGUALTIONS (C & U) 
DRIVING MIRRORS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SEAT BELTS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
FIRE EXTINGUISHER    SEE BELOW 
 
GROUND LEVEL ITEMS 
DOOR GLASS, LOCKS & HINGES   NO EXCESSIVE WEAR & WORKING 
CHECK STRAPS AND TRIMS   NO EXCESSIVE WEAR & WORKING 
COMMUNICATION WINDOW   INTACT & WORKING 
PASSENGER DOOR WARNING SYSTEM  SEE BELOW 
SEATING DIMENSIONS MIN 400MM WIDE PER PASSENGER 
HEATING      INTACT & WORKING 
PASSENGER LIGHTING    INTACT & WORKING 
FRONT LAMPS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HEAD LAMPS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
HEAD LAMP ALIGNMENT    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
STOP LAMPS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
REAR LAMPS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
REVERSING/FOG LAMPS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
REAR REFLECTORS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
NUMBER PLATE LAMPS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
INDICATORS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SPARE WHEEL & TYRE    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
LUGGAGE ARRANGEMENTS   SEE BELOW 
EXTERIOR MIRRORS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
OPERATION OF SHOCK ABSORBERS  MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
CONDITION OF NUMBER PLATES   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TAXI SIGN      SEE BELOW 
 

26



UNDER THE BONNET 
BATTERY SECURITY    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WIRING SECURITY     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
 
UNDER BONNET (Cont.) 
BRAKE PIPES AND HOSES    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
OIL AND FUEL LEAKS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
EMISSION OF SMOKE    EURO 3 EMISSION COMPLIANT 
BONNET OPERATION    SEE BELOW 
EXHAUST MANIFOLD    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
FUEL SYSTEM     SEE BELOW 
 
UNDER THE VEHICLE 
 
STEERING MECHANISM    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
POWER STEERING     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION SHAFTS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
STUB AXLE ASSEMBLIES    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WHEEL BEARING     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SUSPENSION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SHOCK ABSORBERS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
EXHAUST SYSTEM     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TRANSMISSION MOUNTINGS   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
ENGINE MOUNTINGS    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
 
UNDER BODY 
CHASSIS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
WHEELS AND TYRES    MOT REGUALTIONS (C & U) 
TYRE TYPE      MOT REGUALTIONS (C & U)  
TYRE CONDITION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
TYRE TREAD      MOT REGULATIONS (C&U) 
ROAD WHEELS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
UNDER CHASSIS CLEANLINESS   SEE BELOW 
 
BRAKES  
SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U) 
SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE    MOT REGULATIONS  C & U) 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
FLOOR AND CARPET    SEE BELOW 
SEATS      SEE BELOW  
INTERIOR (GENERAL)    SEE BELOW 
CONDITION OF BODY    SEE BELOW 
TRAILERS      SEE BELOW  
ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS SEE BELOW 
FOR PASSENGERS WITH DISABILITIES 
 
 
COMPLIANCE TEST REQUIREMENTS - HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
 
Fire Extinguisher.   A fire extinguisher manufactured to BSEN 3 1996 shall be readily 
available for use and fixed in position using a bracket and not carried loose in the vehicle or 
boot. 
 

27



Passenger door warning system.  The drivers’ control panel warning lights and passenger 
doors safety locking system must be fully operational. All doors shall lock when the foot 
brake is applied or the speed is in excess of 5 mph. 
 
Luggage space. The front luggage space shall be reasonably empty, clean and be available 
for use. 
 
Taxi sign. A “Taxi” sign shall be clearly visible both by day and night when the cab is 
available for hire.  The sign shall be operational. 
 
Bonnet operation. The bonnet shall open and close properly and be fitted with a working 
safety catch. 
 
Fuel system.  A device shall be provided whereby the supply of fuel to the engine may be 
immediately cut off.  Its position together with the means of operation and “off” position must 
be clearly marked on the outside of the vehicle.  In the case of an engine powered by gas or 
petrol, the device must be visible and readily accessible at all times from outside the vehicle. 
 
Tyre type.  Tyres must comply with the requirements of C & U regulations and be marked 
‘Taxi’.  Re-tread tyres must comply with the British Standards Institution requirement 
BS.AU144E as amended. 
  
Under chassis cleanliness. The vehicle shall be submitted for inspection in a clean 
condition to enable the vehicle inspector to carry out a full and proper inspection and 
examine all necessary components 
 
Floor coverings.  Floor coverings in the passenger compartment shall be non-slip and 
capable of being easily cleaned.  The floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, 
tears, or serious staining. 
 
Seats.  All seats, including the driver’s seat shall be free from stains, cuts, tears and 
cigarette burns, except those of a very minor nature.  Any repairs shall be carried out in a 
professional and neat manner.  
 
General interior condition. All interior trim, including headlining, door panels and speakers 
shall be clean, complete, properly fitted and free from serious cuts, tears or major soiling. 
Door handles and window winders shall be secure and operational. All fittings shall be 
secured in a manner that prevents sharp edges or other hazards protruding into the 
passenger carrying area. 
 
Rust The vehicle shall be free from significant areas of visible rusting.  Although minor 
blemishes will not normally constitute a failure, the following general criteria should be 
followed.  Any vehicle with three or more visible rust patches larger than 5sq cms each shall 
be failed.  The vehicle examiner shall be allowed reasonable discretion when assessing rust.  
 
Dents Any vehicle with minor dents on three or more panels where such dents detract from 
the appearance of the vehicle shall be failed.  The vehicle examiner shall be allowed 
reasonable discretion when assessing dents.  
 
Scratches: Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more 
panels of 50mm in length or where the cumulative appearance of scratches detracts from 
the appearance of the vehicle shall be failed. The vehicle examiner shall be allowed 
reasonable discretion when assessing vehicle condition. 
 

28



Paintwork: Vehicles with panels painted in non-matching colours or in primer shall be failed. 
 
ACCIDENT DAMAGE Vehicles with significant unrepaired body damage shall be failed. 
 
Trailers. Trailers shall, 

1. Be maintained in roadworthy condition    
2. Be fitted with an appropriate towing attachment between vehicle and trailer 
3. Be fitted with lights in accordance with The Road Vehicles Lighting Regulations 1989 
4. Tyres shall have adequate tread. 
5. Brakes (where fitted) shall be in operational. 
6. Display a number plate of the towing vehicle. 

 
Access Equipment and fittings for passengers with disabilities: Access ramps and 
hoists shall properly installed and maintained in working order. Wheelchair clamps and 
harnesses shall be correctly fitted, be available for use and, maintained in good working 
order. Fittings and fitments shall be capable of being used by persons using a wheelchair. 
 
Tinted windows.  All rear nearside, offside, tailgate and boot windows fitted to Licensed 
Vehicles shall have a minimum 70% light transmittance.  (This value is the same legal 
minimum value for front nearside and offside windows.)    
 

 

29



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 22 NOVEMBER 2016 
 

TITLE: DRIVER LICENSING: DRIVING STANDARDS 
TESTING ARRANGEMENTS  
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER  
(01279) 446114 
 

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:  DAVID TAYLOR, PRINCIPAL 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER 
(LICENSING)  
(01279) 446164 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council that the Council revise 

its taxi driver licensing conditions such that applicants must, before being 
licensed for the first time by the Council, have satisfactorily completed a taxi 
driver test as described in paragraph 3 of the report delivered by The Blue 
Lamp Trust, IAM Roadsmart, or AA Drivetech.   
 

BACKGROUND 
 
1   Harlow Council currently requires that new applicants pass the Driver and Vehicle 

Standards Agency [DVSA] taxi driver test prior to being licensed to drive a Hackney 
Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle for the first time.  The ‘taxi test’ is in addition to the 
practical driving test which most people will be familiar with.  There may be many 
years between an applicant having passed a driving test to obtain a driving licence 
and application for a taxi licence.  The test provides the Council with some assurance 
that new drivers remain competent to drive a vehicle.   
 

2   The government announced in September 2016 that the DVSA would no longer offer 
the ‘taxi driving test’ beyond the end of December 2016.  Since the announcement 
was made there has been a noticeable reduction in on-line test availability and by the 
end of October the test was not available anywhere across the south of England. 

 
ISSUES 

3   Withdrawal of the DVSA test and practical lack of availability of test bookings has 
resulted in prospective drivers being unable to satisfy current license conditions.  
 

4   The Licensing Team has researched the market and found that a number of 
organisations have begun to offer testing services to fill the gap left by the DVSA. 

30

Agenda Item 10



These appear to offer a similar level of assurance to the Council regarding an 
applicant’s competence to drive. The organisations identified are: 
 
• The Blue Lamp Trust: details of the Blue Lamp Trust’s test may be found here: 

https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/Driver_Training/taxi_driver_assessment.php and 
in Appendix A.  The tests last for 1 hour and costs £87.00 including VAT.  The test 
is available to applicants in south west Essex and is delivered by fully qualified 
fleet approved assessors.   

 
• The Institute of Advanced Motorists: IAM Road Smart is gearing up to offer a 

product similar to that of the Blue Lamp Trust.  This product is entirely new and is 
being developed in response to the demise of the DVSA test.  The IAM is a highly 
respected organisation with a well-established history of driver training and testing. 
The test will last for 1 hour and be delivered by fully qualified staff.  The cost will 
likely be similar to that of the Blue Lamp Trust and the tests will be available to 
applicants in south west Essex.   

 
• AA DriveTech: the AA intend to offer a taxi/private hire test product.  The test will 

cost £86.40 including VAT and last 1 hour, ½ hour on the road and ½ hour face to 
face assessment.  The test will include an eye sight test, emergency stops, soft 
stops, angled starts and hill starts.  Full details of the test were not available at the 
time of writing this report.  However, the AA is a long established and well-
respected organisation with strong road safety credentials.    

 
5   Options available to the Council are to abandon practical testing of new drivers, or to 

approve testing by an alternative organisation.  Testing is considered to make a 
positive contribution to the safety of the travelling public by providing assurance that 
applicants, who may have passed a driving test many years before they apply for a 
taxi licence, remain safe and competent drivers. 

 

PROPOSALS 

6.  It is proposed that the Council revise its driver licensing conditions such that 
applicants must, before being licensed for the first time by the Council, have 
satisfactorily completed a taxi driver test as described above delivered by The 
Blue Lamp Trust, IAM RoadSmart, or AA DriveTech to allow prospective 
drivers to progress with their applications without abandoning driver testing.  
 

7.  The Licensing team will keep the availability of test providers under review 
and will make further recommendations should suitable organisations come to 
its attention so that the widest practicable choice of testers is available to 
prospective licensees. 

 
 
 

31

https://www.bluelamptrust.org.uk/Driver_Training/taxi_driver_assessment.php


IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
As contained within the report. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
None specific. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific .  
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The alternative provisions proposed will ensure that new taxi drivers are 
competent to satisfy the current licencing conditions before being granted a 
licence. 
Author: Dimple Roopchand, Assistant Solicitor for Brian Keane, Head of 
Governance 
 
 

32



                                                         APPENDIX A 
 

 

Taxi Driving Assessment 
 

Important Information (please read carefully) 
This forms part of the Terms for your Assessment 

 
 

For the test to take place you must; 
 
• Bring your driver’s licence with you; this must be presented before the assessment. 
• Your licence should be at your current address and in date. 
• If you have the older style paper licence then you will need to bring an appropriate form of photo 

identification such as a passport. 
• Eyesight must conform to current legislation (20m / 68ft) so if you require glasses /contact lenses 

then bring these with you. 
• You must provide a vehicle for the assessment. 
• The vehicle must be right hand drive, in a roadworthy condition and comply with current road 

legislation i.e. taxed, insured, and fit for purpose. 
• Be punctual, if you are later than 5 minutes the test may be cancelled at the discretion of the 

assessor and you will still be charged. 
• Appropriate footwear should be worn, for example, no flip flops, sandals or high heels. 
 

The Assessment 
 

We recommend that candidates take a driving lesson with an approved driving instructor prior to 
attending the assessment.   
 
Please allow 1 hour for the assessment.  You will be asked 2 maintenance related questions (show 
me / tell me) and expected to drive for approximately 45 minutes on a variety of road types and be 
asked to perform 2 reversing manoeuvres with the possibility of an emergency stop.  You will be 
asked to drive independently of directions for a 10 minute period following road signs and directions to 
a particular destination.  There will be a 10 to 15 minute debrief at which point you will be advised of 
the result. 
 
A maximum of 9 driving faults are allowed.  If you exceed 9 driving faults or commit a serious or 
dangerous fault, this will result in a failure. 
  
Please note that if you take your assessment in an automatic you will not be licenced by your 
authority to drive a manual vehicle. 
 
From time to time, a senior assessor may sit in on an assessment for quality control purposes. 
  
You may cancel or change the appointment date up to 5 working days prior to the test without 
incurring costs, after which you will not receive a refund and rebooking will attract the full fee. 
 
We wish you luck with the assessment, if you require any further clarification or advice then please 
contact the office on 0300 777 0157. 
 

33


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Committee Work Plan
	7 Fees and Charges for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
	8 Standard Driver Licensing Conditions Regarding Offences etc
	existing standard conditions Appendix 1
	proposed standards conditions Appendix 2

	9 Licensed Vehicle Standards
	standard vehicle conditions Appendix 1
	APPENDIX 1
	3
	PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENSING AND TESTING
	The Licensed Vehicle shall meet the following standards
	MOT and Compliance standards
	ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED
	INTERIOR
	UNDER THE BONNET
	UNDER THE VEHICLE
	UNDER BODY
	CHASSIS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	WHEELS AND TYRES    MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	TYRE TYPE      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	TYRE CONDITION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	ROAD WHEELS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	BRAKES TEST
	SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	Driver and passenger foot-wells: Driver and passenger foot-wells shall be kept free of obstructions.

	Leg room, seat dimensions and internal arrangements: Private hire vehicles shall meet the following minimum standards:
	Bonnet. The bonnet must open and close properly and be fitted with a working safety catch in accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications.

	Floor coverings Floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, or serious staining.
	Dents: Any vehicle with minor dents on three or more panels where such dents detract from the appearance of the vehicle shall be failed.  The vehicle examiner shall be allowed reasonable discretion when assessing dents.
	Scratches: Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels of 50mm in length or where the cumulative appearance of scratches detracts from the appearance of the vehicle shall be failed. The vehicle examiner shall be al...
	Paintwork: Any vehicle with panels painted in non-matching colours, or in primer, shall be failed.
	TRAILERS. Trailers shall,
	Access Equipment and fittings for passengers with disabilities (where fitted): Access ramps and hoists shall properly installed and maintained in working order. Wheelchair clamps and harnesses shall be correctly fitted, be available for use and, maint...

	5
	HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENSING AND TESTING
	Mandatory Orders.  Harlow Council operates a system referred to as ‘Mandatory Orders’. This means that Hackney Carriage vehicle licenses are only issued to vehicles, which meet the London Public Carriage Office specification i.e. ‘London-style cabs’.

	HACKNEY CARRIAGE LICENSING AND TESTING
	ITEM       STANDARD REQUIRED
	CAB ITEMS
	UNDER THE BONNET
	UNDER THE VEHICLE
	UNDER BODY
	CHASSIS      MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	WHEELS AND TYRES    MOT REGUALTIONS (C & U)
	TYRE TYPE      MOT REGUALTIONS (C & U)
	TYRE CONDITION     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	ROAD WHEELS     MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	BRAKES
	SERVICE BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	PARKING BRAKE EFFICIENCY   MOT REGULATIONS (C & U)
	SERVICE BRAKE BALANCE    MOT REGULATIONS  C & U)
	MISCELLANEOUS
	TRAILERS      SEE BELOW
	ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS AND FITTINGS SEE BELOW
	FOR PASSENGERS WITH DISABILITIES
	COMPLIANCE TEST REQUIREMENTS - HACKNEY CARRIAGE
	Passenger door warning system.  The drivers’ control panel warning lights and passenger doors safety locking system must be fully operational. All doors shall lock when the foot brake is applied or the speed is in excess of 5 mph.
	Luggage space. The front luggage space shall be reasonably empty, clean and be available for use.
	Bonnet operation. The bonnet shall open and close properly and be fitted with a working safety catch.
	Fuel system.  A device shall be provided whereby the supply of fuel to the engine may be immediately cut off.  Its position together with the means of operation and “off” position must be clearly marked on the outside of the vehicle.  In the case of a...

	Tyre type.  Tyres must comply with the requirements of C & U regulations and be marked ‘Taxi’.  Re-tread tyres must comply with the British Standards Institution requirement BS.AU144E as amended.
	Under chassis cleanliness. The vehicle shall be submitted for inspection in a clean condition to enable the vehicle inspector to carry out a full and proper inspection and examine all necessary components
	Floor coverings.  Floor coverings in the passenger compartment shall be non-slip and capable of being easily cleaned.  The floor covering shall be complete and free from cuts, tears, or serious staining.
	Seats.  All seats, including the driver’s seat shall be free from stains, cuts, tears and cigarette burns, except those of a very minor nature.  Any repairs shall be carried out in a professional and neat manner.
	Scratches: Any vehicle with unrepaired scratches down to bare metal on three or more panels of 50mm in length or where the cumulative appearance of scratches detracts from the appearance of the vehicle shall be failed. The vehicle examiner shall be al...
	Paintwork: Vehicles with panels painted in non-matching colours or in primer shall be failed.
	Trailers. Trailers shall,
	Access Equipment and fittings for passengers with disabilities: Access ramps and hoists shall properly installed and maintained in working order. Wheelchair clamps and harnesses shall be correctly fitted, be available for use and, maintained in good w...



	10 Driver Licensing: Driving Standards Testing Arrangements
	DVSA Taxi and PH Test Appendix A


